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This 18 an interview being conducted with President Ezra Taft Benson
in Mr., Benaon's offices in S5alt Lake City on May 21, 1875, Present
for the interview President Benson, Dr, Maclyn Burg of the Eisenhower
Library stafi.

DR. BURG: May I call you Mr, Benson; is that all right?

ME. BENEOWN: Yes, of course.

DR, BURG: It comes easily for me,

MR, BENZION: I've been called worse things than that.

DR. BURG: oOne of the things that interested us was your work as
executive secretary of the National Council of Parmers Coogperatives
in Washingteon, D.C., in the period 193%-44. We would just like o
havs you sketch in for us the nature of the work that you did and
what kind of interests you would be representing in the zourse of
that work. And then also, in that respect, how that may have aided
you or proven to be a detriment during your time as secretary of

agriculturea.

ME. RENSCOM: The Mational Council of Farmer Cooperatives is 3
federation of 4,600 farmers, cooperative marketing, and cooperative
purchasing organizations, covering the United States, many organi-
zations in every state of the union and Puerto Rico. And this was
the national neadguarters., It was our responsibility to look after

the interests of these organizatiens, in Washington particularly.
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BURG: Almost as a lobby group.

BENSON: Well, it was more than a lobby group. We did wery little
lobbyving as it's uswally understood in Washington. However, I did
appear bhefore committees. If there was legislation pending that had
a bearing on the farmers' organizations, particularly their businass

prganizations, that's what these were, I would appear. If there was
problems with any of the departments or agencies of government, I
would represent the cooperatives in consultation with them. I would
alsc spend & lot of time out in the field. I travelled into every
state in the union and would attend annual mestings, seminars with
management, discussing the proklems of management--pricing, marketing,
packaging, all the rest, the whole field of marketing. We had all of
our ecpoperatives divided into divisions based on the type of organi-
zation they were. For example, we had all the grain cooperatives
together in one division, the dairy cooperatives in another, fruits
in another, vegetzbles in another and livestock in another. And
sometimes we'd have a =zeparate meeting with this department, just
this department and their representatives. I'd speak at many annual
meetings all across the country and occasionally would attend some
international confersnces in which we had an interest. For edample
the first international conference on agriculture, I guess aver Lo

bBe held in modern times was held at Church House in London, and I
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was one of the four agricultural representatives at that internaticnal
conference, I wWas concerned primarily with the cperation of these
business organizations, which were cooperatives organized under the
anthorization of Congress under the basic legislation which was known
as the Capper-Goldstead Act, which authorized farmers to join together

in a mutual effort to market their products or purchase their supplies.

BURG: MNow you vourself had come, not only from farm background when
vou were & boy, but you had been operating a farm in ITdaho and then

fad risen from that, followed this career with the cooperative movement.

BENSON: Yes. T was born and reared on a farm in scutheastern Idaho.
Later my brother and I purchased a farm and cperated it, alternating
between college and the farm, And then later, when I finished my
college work or what I thought was my cellege work, and did a vear's
graduste work at Iowa State University, I went back to the farm and
then was more or less drafted te be a county agricultural agent in

wy home county, [ refused to go anywhere else, although it was
against policy to serve in your own county. But the county COMME 2=
simners wanted me to serve there and I had to serve there and my
brother then was on a mission in Denmark for the church: so I had the
responsibility for the farm. So finally they worked it out with the

university. You notice the three way arrangement, federal government,
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the stabtg==
BURG: Land-grant, land-grant colleges and the county.

BENSON: That's right. And so I worked out an arrangement so T
could be the county agent, the county agricultural agent in my
home county, so I could sort of keep an eye on this farm. They
anthorized me to live on the farm, but I think that would not be
wigse. It would be subject to criticism and justlv so. So I moved
of# the farm and put a man on the farm. But [ was in confact with

him every faw days.,
BURZ: He acted then as managar.

BENSON: That's right, as manager and operator, But I was only
there for 2 couple of years and then I moved on to the state basis
as an agricultural economist and marketing specialist, that was my

kitle, for the whole state,
BURG: State of Idazho.

BENSON: That's when T got into the cooperatives more, although my
major in my master's degree, my thesis, was in the area of marketing,
national marketing. My undergraduate work was animal husbandry and
marketing, livestock and marketing, but I have a lot of crops Work

too. Sa then from the state, T erganized in the state, T took the
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leadership in crganizing a state cooperative council of all the
cooperatives within the state working tegether on their common
praoblems, and guite successfully. That took me occasionally to the
annual meeting of the Mational Council of Farm Cooperatives bhecause

they had a division for state councils. You s=e?

BURBG: Yes,

BENSON: And it waz there that I was more or less drafted to head

up the national organization. 2And from that time, of course I was
spending my full time on marketing. Of couwrse 1've always been
active in the church, and I was president of first stake or diocese
af the churech in the western area while I was with the coop council,
From there I was called to be a member of the Council of Twelve,

which iz part of the ruling body of the cghurch,.

BUEG: S0 what people probably did not know in 1253 was that your
experiences with the farmer cooperatives had both given you guite
a bit of insight into the hows and whys of the American political

process in Washington D.C.-—

BENSON: Yeg,

BURG: =--But you alsa were widely known throughout the ranks of

agriculturs, had been for years. Something that T suspect the
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American pepple weren't aware of.

BENSOM: I think that's right, Five and a half vears I'd been in
Washington and during that time I had many trips to Washington.
Well T showld say, all during the time I was in Idaho, eight years,
in service pn a state basis, cooperative was a federal preogram, T
would make at least pne trip a year to Washington to attend the
canference for exawmple, cother economic meetings that had a bearing
en our agriculture in Idahe, And I wouldn't go back there to appear
before committeses: I went back there to attend meetings with
representatives of the U.5, Department of Agriculture and represen-
tatives from other statez, 5o I had a rather broad contact, And
then of course I'd been a member of the board opf the American
Institute of Cooperation, which is the sducaticnal arm af the
copperative movement. The land-grant colleges are part of that too.
And then at the time I wasg called to be 2 member of the twelwe, I
was chairman, as I remember, I was chairman of the board and a
membar of the executive committee of that national organization.

So that gave me a bread contact with the educational arm of

agriculture and the cocperative movement.

BURG: 5o ons would have to say then probably in respect to this

last guestion, that these contacts most certainly helped you=--
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BENSON: Oh, there's no guestion about that,

BURG: =--in the work you 4id.

BENSON: My whole life and interest had been in agriculture.

BURG: MNow is it fair to alap say that not only did the contacts
assist you that they influenced you znd influenced you for the better

do you think?

BEKEON: Well I think I was so close to the farmers' problem, having
been a farmer, having been raised on a farm and then having worked
with farmers practically all my life that I think the answer to your

gquestion is vas.

BURG: All right, let me move on=--

BRENSON: Yes, because you've got a lot to cover--

BURG: Yes, we'll do ocur best. You described your appointment as
Cecretary of Agriculture in Crossfire, and you indicated that you
never had, at least as of 1962, vou never really pinned down
precisely how this had happened to you, You had talked with
Miltan Eisephower and others. Have wyou, since then, had an

opportunity to find out any more?
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RENSON: No. And I've never tried.

BURG: You never have tried.

BENSON: I'wve never tried except I knew that T was well known and
favarably known. I've never been in any sericus controversy over

agriculture problemS--

BURG: Mr, Benson, when we see what happened to you in the next

#ight years—-

BENSON: That's right. I was & firm believer in free enterprise,

T still am. And I felt that these farm coopsratives were part of
free enterprise and a very important part and had a place in our
national economy. &nd I felt I knew the problems of the farmer,

and I was sympathetic to those preblems, and I was opposed to many

of the things the government had been trying to do to control and
regulate agriculture, T felt that the best answer to the farm
problem was to give the farmers great freedom to operate their own
farms in their own way without government interference or control

and trying to fix prices. There had't been a serious attempt in
nistory, really, in agriculture te fix prices nor te contrpl preoduction.
There hasn't been a successful attempt. And I spent a lot of time on

research. &and when I was with the coop council, I went on pational
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hook-up twa ar three times oppesing price controls and government
regulatien of agriculture. Sc I had all that background, and the
more I weat into it, the more certéin I was that the besszt thing for
farmers is a free market without government interference. Of course,
I understoad that there were certain things that need to have govern-—
ment supervisien, but that the kest thing government could do
generally was to assist in probably research and expansion of markets,
but not regulating the farmer. You understand that if wvou'wve read

Crogssfire,

BURGZ: T'11l ask Milton Eisenhower and s=e 1if T can find from him

what the process was——

BENSON: Well zome asked Senator Taft pne time if T was his ecandidate,

and yvou remember his answer.

RURG: Yeaa,

BENSON: He said, "Moo, I can't say that he is." Taft was apparently

pleased; wa're about sixth cousina.

BURG: And besides the blood relationship, you had been a Taft

supborter.

BENSCON: I had. And I had not been an Biszenhower supporter. You've
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got all that in Crossfire, no use my repeating it. Milton would
know more about that probably than I. &And T'll tell vou anether
one who would know something about it and that's Carl Butler up at
Cornell. Now Carl was with Abbaco Corporation, and Carl's ene of
the young men I togk with me--I had Fred Babble with me part of
time—-but I teck Carl Butler with me on this first swing through

the country.
BURG: That 20 day trip--

BENSON: That 20 day trip, Butler was with me and helped to arrange

the contacts,
BURG: We'll asgk him.
BENSON - And he's up at Ithaca,

BURG: ©Okay, we'll check it out with him toec. Now, some of the
aspects of your relationship with the President are certainly well
covered in Crossfire. We would like to ask you, what, as you now
look back upon it, what did the President contribute to the

development of United States farm policy?

BENSON: Well, I would say very frankly that the President had come

from a rural state, Kansas, and he lived in Texas, but he didn't
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know an awful lot about agriculture, and he knew he didn't. But

the President wanted to know, and did his homework. He asked me

te supply him with material to read, and he read, And he had a

very, I thought, excellent way of arranging, organizing, and

managing a cabinet meeting. &nd he held cabinet meetings. He
believed in counsel. He didn't think that he or any man had all

the answers. And if I had & matter as a member of the cabinet on
agriculture that involved policy, possible change in policy, I would
be expected to prepare a position paper on this particular matter

and subkmit it to the staff so it could be circulated to the other
memkers of the cabinst. So when that item came up on the =agenda

the fallowing Friday, all wmembers of the cabinet would know scmething
abeut it or at least would have had opportunity te know something
about it. So we could have an intelligent discussion on it, and it
wouldn't be just the Secretary of Agriculture who knew about it. And
T theught that was a very safe procedure that he followed. And he

followed it rather religicusly. To me, that was wvery important,
because agriculture was so mixed up in the minds of pecple--so much
confusion, so mech pulling and hauling, It was not the economics
of agrieulture that was the most difficult, it was the politics of

agriculture, But in order tc move forward at all, we had a2 great

educaticonal job to do. And we had to start with the cabinet and
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the President, because we had to get in the wminds of pesople a clear
picture of what this was sll about. We were spending, oh, hundreds
of millions of dollars and accomplishing wvery little., And what is
the farm problem? What is it? 1Is there a solution? Yas, there's
a2 splution. Sc we went into svery phase of this very carefully.
I set up an advisory committee of, I think, about twenty men,
Agriculture Addvisory Committee, I speak of it; Eisenhower formalized
it later. He believed wery much in that commicssion. I had the best
men I conld find in America. I paid no attention te their polities,
I wanted the best talent I could find to serve on that committee.
Didn't get any pay for it, except, as I remember, we paid their
transportation and food while they were there, And Eisenhower was
very muach in favor of it, so much so that he had his picture taken
with them and so on. Aand often we would discuss—-now this has been
before the commission, he'd sometime raise the guestion, "wWhat does
the commision think about this?"

And 1'd =ay, "“This has been studied by the commission. I
wouldn't think of bringing something here of a majer character that

hadn't been reviewed by the commission.”

BURG: Test it against this board of opinion,

RENSONM: Test it against this board of opinion. And Eisenhower
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liked that. &nd in the cabinet he was a great fellow to have
discussion. He moved zhead expeditiously, didn't waste 3 lot of
time. But he was glad to get the wviews of different people. Then

he started these stag dinners; you've heard about those?

BURZ: Right.

BENSON: And some people would say that was political., There may
have been some of that in it, but I think Eisenhower wanted to pick
qaome brains, He wanted to find eut what they thought sbeout different

things.

BURG: The impression you got, Mr. Benson, seems to me that you
epoke of it in your book toe, is that anytime in the after dinner
portion of one of these stag affairs, anytime the conversation
drifted away teo matters outside what he wanted te talk about, he

brought them baeck to the subject that he had in mind.

BENSON: He did, he did, very much.

BURG: Now, did he ever at any point during the =ight wears, let
us put it this way, strenucusly disagree with a proposal that you

were making?

BENSON: Well let me say this: The first good talk we had after he
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was inaugurated, we agreed on one or twe basic things. First, we
agreed that if & thing was right in principle, it ought to be done.
and if it was right in principle in the leng run it would be good
politically, Mow we both believed that. And he believed it. And
secondly he told me that T would never be asked to support any
policy or program I didn't believe in. And he was true to that
commitment. There was one time he went against my counsel on
agriculture. I think it was in 1956, political year, he was up for
re—glection. And I know the great pressure that was placed upon
him by pelitical leaders--some of them in the cabinet and many of
them in the congress, some of them out in the field--to raise
sepport levels for farm products, the basic crops, political crops,
T sometimes called them and he did teo. But I opposed it. I said,
"mr. President, it's wrong in principle, and it'll do more harm
than gocd in the long run." But the pressure was great, and he
raised some of the supports administratively, which he had the
right to do as President. He told me after that he regretted it,
that it was a mistake so far as agriculture was concerned. That's
the enly time I can recall when he went coantrary to my counscel on

a matter of agriculture. ©On the basic philosophy that we were
trying to encourage, we were in agreement. That is, less government

in agriculture, more freedom for the farmers, for government to help
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on research, expansion of markets, but not in the speration of the
farm or the pricing of farm commedities, and that a government ware-
house is not a market, When I took office it was costing us a

millien dollars a day for storage.

BURG: Yes, Incredible =sum.

BENSON: And we had lest our markets abroad., Fifty percent of our
cotton market been lost. We'd priced our cotton cut of the market,
and of course encouraged increased preduction in Egypt, in Mexieo,

in other places.

BURG: To take up that slack?

BENSCN: Yes--

BURG: To take advantage of the market.

BENSON: Markets we'we still not fully regained. We had some very

seripus guestions, and sometimes Eisenhower went against his staff.

BURG: T understood from the book that there were people--

BENSON: You'we got that one case where we went down to Georgla;

he was down there plaving golf?



Ezra Taft Benson, 5/21/7% Page 1o

BURG: Yes, indesd.

BENSON: Well, that's one of the best example=s; T think that is the
most prominent example where he went against his staff. and that
was on a farm bill that had been passed. It was, well I ealled it
an economic monstrosity:; it was terrible as a farm bill., Wever

intended to help farmers-—-

BURG: An omhibus sort of thing.

BENSOM: Yes, intended to embarrass the President because if he
signed it the farmers would not be happy:; there was nothing in it
for farmers really. &and if he wvetoed it, why he'd be eriticized

r

of course, "He went against the farmers," you see?

BURG: Yes.

BENSON: And when Sherm Adams called me on the telephone after that
bill == you knew they sent it te the department that's concerned and
we either prepare a draft of a veto message or an endorsement of it
and we prepared a veto message, send it over to the White House.
and Sherm Adams ralled me, he said, "Ezra, don't you have any
political sense?”

1 said, "Prebably not very much, Governor. What is it?" Aand
then he told me--this farm Rill.

He said, "Did you ever hear of a President vetoing a farm bill
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in an election year?"

I gays, "I don't know." But I said, "This is not a farm bill.
This ig & politigcal bill." I said, "The President can't afford to
sign this. Isn't anything in it for farmers. It's nathing but a
political bill to try and embarrass him." And then T explained the
economics of 1t.

He said, "Well the staff all feel he ought to sign it--he must
gign it."

"Well, I'm sorry," I said, "I can't agree." And T =aid, "My
staff fepl as I do. And I've had my economist go into it in detail.”
And he was a good economist; later Eisenhower put him on his staff.
That's Don Paarlburg: he's back in agriculture now.

But he said, "Well the boss is down in Georgia. T guess we'll
have to carry it to him."

T said, “all right, we'll carry it to him." So we went down on
the plane, me and two members of my staff and Gabe rGabriel] Hauge

and two other members of the=-

BURG: PFred Seaton went down on that trip?

BEMEON: TI'm not sure.

BURG: MNor am I, but that can be checked out.
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BENSON: That can be checked put. But I know that Gabe Hauge went
down because (Gahe Haunge was sort of the economist there at the

White Hous=ze,

BURG: Yes.

BENSON: So we went down to see the boss. And we talked agriculture
policy all the way down. We were friendly. T had a good working
relationship with the staff always. But sometimes we didn't agree

with some memberes of the staff.

BURG: Mr. Benson, would they admit for example on the trip down to
Augusta, could you get them to admit that that bill was really a
dizaster as far as farmers were concerned, but they were going to
hold the line because, politically, they thought it was expedient

to have it passed?

BENSON: Yes, they felt that it was expedient, and they felt 1t was
not too disastrous - — might be some good come from it -- at least
there'd be some goodwill come from it and so on., But anyway we went
down, and I think the next morning we went out to the place where
Eisenhower was living——it was close to the golf course. He didn't
get theres very often so I guese they arranged this guarter for him

as close to the golf course as possible so he wouldn't be worrying
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sbout police escorts ané things of that sort. So we went over to the
gquarters the newxt morning and I, being a cabinet member of course he
invited me into his office first alone. And he was just opening
some mail. He satd, "I've just been opening my mail, They bring
dewn the important mail for me." &nd he =aid, "There is no letter
here thisz merning that advises me to veto that farm bill." Aand he
said, "I know that's why you've come."

T sasd, "Mr. President, are there any letters from farmers?”

He said, "No, not one.”

I said, "Of eourse not. This is not a farm bill. Tt's a
politieal bill," And T said, "You remember the first real conver-
sation we had after you took office. We decided that if a thing
wae right in principle, it ought to be done."

He said, "¥es, I remember." And then he said, "I know it's
right to veto this farm bill." He says, "I'm going to veto 3
Mever even heard hie staff. Then he called them all in and he said,
"I'm going to veto this farm by11.°

and Sabe Hauge said something to the effect, he said, "Well,
Mr. President, the last thing that Governor Adame said was, "If you
should decide to veto the bill be sure it's not done while the

national Republican committee's in town.'"
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BURG: They were to be there 1 believe on a Wednesday, and this was

sort of a Monday situation.

BENSON: Yes, something like that. And Eisenhower had to go before
tham the last evening of the day they spent, the last day, and
speak to them. And he said, Governor Adams said, "Whatever you do,
den't veto it while they're in town,"

And T =said, "Mr. President, aren't we &ll on the same tesam?”

I said, "How do yvou think these leaders are going to feel? They're
here for three days and you talk to them as the last part of their

three day meeting. Then they go home and read the headlines in the
papers that the President has vetoed the most controversial bill of
this session of Congress.”

And Eisenhower smiled just a little and he =said, "Well, T don't
very often go against my staff." He said, "In this case the staff
is wrong and the secretary is right." He said, "We'll send up the
vetn message, and then I'1]l appear before the national committee
and tell them why I wvetoed it." That's what he did. He waag
acclaimed, his action was acclaimed as an act of courage and states-
manship. It helped him in the election. Isn't any gueation about
it. Ewven with the farmers it had helped him, because they knew it
was the right thing to deo. and all the way along we had the suppert

of the largest of the farm organizationsz, over three fourths of all
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the farm families in America that are in farm organizations are in
the Farm Bureau, and the Farm Bureau was opposed to this bill even
though it was a farm bill. And my philosophy was so close to
theirs that I was accused of dominating the Farm Bureau and Charlie
Charles B.] Shuman, who was president of the Farm Bureau, was
accused of dominating me, because our philosophy was so close
together. Well there's nothing of that domination; it was Jjust

that we all had the same solid philosophy, based on sound economics.

BURG: Well I was going to ask vou also, harking back to the 1952
campaign, the speech which had been made--that one in North Dakota--
must have been most difficult for you to live with then as a newly

appointed secretary of agriculture.

BENSON: Yes, It was. And it was a mistake. T think it was a

mistake that he made it. But he was under pressure.

BURG: Did he ever say to you privately later on that he felt it

fad heen 2 mistake to make that remark™

BENSON: He alluded to it. I don't know that he came put that
definite, but he said something to the effect, "Our jobh would be
sazier now if we hadn't of endorsed 90% of parity." But you see
his endorsement was only for tha one year, the law that was on the

boaks,
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BURG: That's really all that saved you in a way and that got you

through szome congressional hearings obviously--

HEMSOM: Yes. It helped.

BURG: ==from the testimony in your beok. T saw you egquivocating

very carefully. You had that one-year limit on it.

BENSOM: That's right. 2and I agreed that I would support what was

on the books £ill it expired. And that was one year. But T never
endorsed the principle of high, rigid price supports. And Eisenhower
never did either., From a long-time policy standpoint, he never did,
Well T don't remember. Now I'1l tell you one time when we did have

s contact. The annual meeting of the Wational Dairy Asscciation was

held at Pennsylvania State College, en the campus.

EURG: T remember that from the book.

BENSON: And (Milton] Eisenhowser was president. And he was there.

BURZ: At his farm.

EEKEOK: ©On the campus. HNo. He was there at the meeting when I spoks,

Milton was.

EURG: Milton was there, Yes, he was president of Penn State,
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BENSON: Pennsylvania State——-Penn State. And that's 2 great school,
land-grant college, and Milton was doing a good jobk as president, T
felt., And they extended every courtesy to me while T was there, but
this was during the meeting. We had dairy representatives from all
aver the nation at their annual meeting. &And right then we had six
hundred and sixty-six million pounds of butter in cold storage. And
government had price supports on butter so high that the consumption
af butter was going down this way and the consumption of cleomargarine
was going up this way and the two lines had just crossed for the first

time in our history.

BURG: 0Oh, they had?

BEENSON: YYo=,

BURGZ: Just akout at the time of that meeting.

BEENSON: .Just about the time. Aand that's expensive storage--cold
storage for butter. So the dairymen were losing their markets, and
the markets were being taken by the competitor, cleomargarine. &And
=o that was pretty much my theme I think. I had a bad habit--I guess
vou call it bad--of laying things on the line econcomically just as

hard and cold as I could based on the facts, so they'd register with

people, and not give them a lot of soft seap, try and build up good
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will immediately. And 2o I was talking about the solution to the
dairy problem. We had to get our supports down, and I'm a dairy
farmer: I milked cows a good part of my life, the arm-strong method,

when I was a bov.

BURS: Holsteins as a matter of fact.

BENSOM: Yes. &and so I knew whereof I was speaking. And I said,
"We've got to eat our way out of thiz. We'we got to get our supports
dawn, That will stimulate consumption in the marketplace, and then
we've got to promote greater consumption." And T said, "I've

naticed here on this campus, a land-grant college campus, nei ons

milk dispenser.”

BURG: No automatiec vending devices for it.

BENSON: HNo. Now yvou can buy Coca=Cola and about everything else,
but ne milk. And this is one of the great dairv states of the Union.
well when 1 was through, Milton responded, and he responded very
favorably and helpfully, He said, "I want to pledge to the

secretary of agriculture that when he comes back again or when anyone
comes hack again, they're going to find milk dispensers at different
nlaces on this campus."” And he 4i@ jt. Well of course that didn't

make any great difference in the consumption of dairy products, but
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it helped. And I promoted that clear across America, in factories,

avervwhers.

EURG: This may have been one of the pccasions too whers you made a
strong impression on Milton, which in turned would have been passed

on to his brother,

BENSON: Yes, Well, could have been. But you know Milton's the

firet man I saw when I went to New York for that interview.

BURG: Yes. He's the man who talked with vou.

BENSON: Milton was the first one that I learned that the President
was going to offer me the job. T never expescted that when 1 went
back there. I thought he was ‘nterviewing a number of psople, and

I thought I had some good reasons why T wouldn't be secretary so he
would pick someone else. And 1 was sincere. T thought he ought to
get & secretary from the mid-west, that's the heart of agriculture.
Utah a relatively unimportant farm state. Idaho's more important,
my native state, but I lived in Utah. So I was sincere in trying to
help him help the country. But Milton said that he thought it was
all pretty well settled. So I went in with that knewledge: so0 T

bore dowsn even more on my reasons than I would have done otherwise.
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BURG: It didn't work too well,

BENSON: Mo, it didn't work too well., and it's all right.

BURG: Well I was asked, by one of my staff, to ask you about, in
fact the way it was expressed was, that the USDA shared responsi-
bilities battlegrounds with other departments. And he wanted me to
ask you abput various inter-departmental relationships during the
course of your secretaryship, for example, the USDA and State
Department. He wondered if you could discuss the struggle of the
inception and applieation of PL-480, Was there any conflict between
ICA-foreign aid-agricultural development programs and interests,

markets of U.5. farmers? Was that a problem?

BENSON: T wouldn't call it a seripuas problem. PL-480, of course,
pleased the State Department I think. They thought we could move
surpluses, cut down costs of carrying, and build up some good will

ahyoad.

BURG: If it were done carefully.

BENESON: If it were done carefully, ves. And at the same time, it
weuld bring relief to people who were underfed and would acguaint
them with American grown farm products, which might result in

expanded markets for farm products later.
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BURG: Had the agricultural expsrts with State Department been

transferred to USDA by the time PL-4B0 went into effect?

BENSON: T don't believe so, I can't remember that--that date.

I think mayhe it was about the szame time, as I recall. Buk you see
we had these agricultural attaches all over in state, many of them
were wearing striped pants. They weren't doing anvthing for agri-
culture, and when these were established they were to be the eyes
and ears of agriculture abrpad. They were to try and open doors

for new exports of farm products; they were to keep us informed back
home on agriculture matters and policies that might affect us, might
affect the demand for pur products: they were to keep us informed
regarding imports that the United States that might be competitive
with the domestically grown farm products. They weren't doing it.
They were doing this job and that job. We just felt they were not
real representatives of agriculture, many of them. AaAnd sa that's
when we asked the President to consider transferring them by executive
order, which he did and I think that took some courage. 1 think

[John Fester] Dulles opposed that. I'm not sure.

BURG: I was going to ask you.

BENSON: But I rather think he did. &and I said, "No, we're not

trying to build an empire over here. We're trying to reduce our
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personnel,” We did reduce cur personnel--entirely too largs. And
vou may not realize it, may be I didn't have it in the book, bur

ave budget except one, the congress gave me more maney than we
g

neaded and wanted.

BURG: Yes, you got it inte the book--

BENSOM: I got that in the bosk.

BURG: &an astounding thing.

BEMNSON: Yes, astounding thing.

EURG: They kept giving vou more than vou wanted to have.

BENSON: We were not asking for these agricultural attaches simply

to build an empire.

BURG: Did the s=tate department people, the top leadership aside
From Mr. Dulles—-sbviously Mr. Dulles never 4id clearly ndicate to
vou how he felt, but was there any prolonged resentment from state

at losing these people?

BENSON: 7T don't believe so. I don't believe so. If so they pretty

well kept it to themselves.
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BURG: Hard to believe that anything like that would not have gotten

to your ear, had there bheen--

BENSON: Yes, ves, had there been opposition. ©0Of course, there was
eomething that got to my sar and that was when we started screening

these men.

BURG: Yes, I remember that.

BENSON: You remember the . case, fTor evample,

BURG: Yes, precisely.

BENSON: That was partly our fault, poor handling. 1T was away: I had
a new executive secretary because my executive secretary had to leave
because his partner in business in California had had a heart attack
and to save the business he had to lesave and take it pver, But we
had to screen them because some of them were just not trained in
agriculture. And se we started screening them, and of course some

people started sereaming as we started screening.

BURG: Fred rFrederick W.] Babbel teld wme about that little problem

too.

BENSON: ¥Yes, Fred could fell wou about it.
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BURG: HNow let me ask vou about treasury department. What was the
relationship with treasury, for example, on expensive supports?

How did treasury wisw that?

BENSONM: George Humphrey was with me all the way 2 hundred percent.

BURG: So on export development, balance of trade, balance of payments,
the things that vou speak abksaut with regard to Humphrey in the boek,

he was perhaps your most apt pupil in the cabinaet.

EENSON: Yes, And probably the mest ardent supporter unless it was
arthur Summerfield. I never proposed a thing that 1 can remember

that I didn't have the support of those two men in the cabinat.

BURG: Were vou ever able to determine how this came abount? How did

these two men react so favorably to the—-

BENSOM: They reacted favorably beecause they thought it was right.
They thought it was good for the country and right for farmers and
right for the taxpavers generally. And they thought in the long

run it would be good for America.

EURG: Now Bumphrey went to the trouble, and T think that would be
a safe way to put it, he went to the troubkle of consulting with vou,

getting your help in educating himself in agricultural matters.
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BENSON: Yes, ves he did.

BOURG: New did Arthur Summerfield do that?

BENSON: Yes he did.

BURG: He, too, did it.

BEMNSON: ¥Yes he &£id. But Arthur, I thiak, dug in more on hig own
mavke than Humphrey. Arthur did more on his own and didn't ask

for so much help, but oft times he'd ask a guestion, and oft times
T'd send him material bearing on the guestion he'd asked. But George
and I had a very, a very fine relationship. &And our conversation was

glmost entirely=--"What's good for this country."

BURG: So these two men are cutstanding supporters of you. Let me
just break from the path lenyg enough to say--on that cabinet were
there any members that you could identify who fairly consistently

put up the biggest arguments against you?

BENSON: MNo, I don't know=-, TI'd say many of them didn't know much

about i t,

BURG: ©Did that stop them from talking, Mr. Benson, or did they talk

anyway?
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BENSON: Not always. There were some that, 1like the vice-president,
whoe would often ask, "What dees it mean to us politically?"--may not
use those words, but that's what it meant--"What does it mean Lo us
politically?"” And that was never very helpful, to me. Fram my
standpoint it was never very helpful, because T believed what
Eisenhower and I had agreed upon--that if it's right in principle
and good for the country, it'll be good politically. May take a
little longer, but it'll be good politically. But mest of them

didn't dig in very deep on agriculture,

BURG: Did they tend to accept—

BENSON: Mavbe they thought that there were other things meore

important. Yes they tended to accept it.

BURG: Accept your recommendations,

BENSON: MNow Bob (Robert] anderson, when he eame on, Bob was gquite
active in agriculture, in the agriculture subject, having come from
Texas and I gquess being close to agriculture. And Beb was in full

suppeort, near as I conld tell.,

BURG: How about Mr. Seaton when he took over as secretary of the

interior?
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BENSON: I had a great affection for Fred, but he and I didn't
always see eye-to-eye. Seaton was a great political mind. I mean
he would often raise the politics of the guestion. What does 1t
mean politically? He was pretty close in his philoscphy te the
vice-president. When it cama to matters of agriculture, he would
nften raise the guestion, "Well now, what's this going to do to us

pelitically,” in the great mid-west especially.

BURG: Had his predecesasor, Douglas McKay--

BENSON: Doug, Doug was—-—

BURG: =-had he been more sympathetic, I mean legg--

BENSON: 1I'd say a little more. Doug seemed to be very friendly to
me a& a westerner. We both came from out in that country. But he
was mors political than some other members of the cabinet, but a
fine personality. Well both he and Fred--I got along with all of
them, had no difficulty. The nearest T came to having difficulty
with Fred was on a mining bill which Fred was supperting., which the
administration was supporting, but which I refused to testify in
support of. And Fred had asked me--the President didn't ask me--
the Pregident wouldn't ask me because he knew it was contrary to my

philesophy. It waz a subsidy for mining, small minings out in the
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west., aAnd we went over the bill wery carefully in the department,
in staff; we had pur economist check 1t first and make the report

in staff meeting. We all agreed it was a government subsidy that

was not needed and not sound. Therefore we decided that if we were
asked, we would represent our views. And we were asked--Fred asked
us if we'd go up and testify in support of it. T sent him a copy

of the analysis of the bill, a3 I remember, a&nd told him that we
could not support it. And T sent copies of that teo Eisenhower, to

the President aand his staff. So we heard no more of Lt.

BURG: ©Oh, Mr. Seaton did not seek your testimony then?

RENSON: Na, Ne, not further. Put he went to us without going through
the President, which I thought was wrong. He came straight erosswise
tg me to try and get us to support this, as I remember it. And we
made the analvsis of the bill and made cur report and sent a copy

to the President.

BURG: So presumably that would have been the first time that the

President would learsn that he had been by-passed,

BENSON: Possiblv. Although someone on his staff must have known.
rred was guite close to the staff. Probably closer to the staff

than T was.
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BURG: He had served on it for & pericd of time.

BENSON: He'd served aon it, that's right. Now I was sorty we had
to do this, but we couldn't support it. We thought it was not spund

economically or politically in the long run.

BURG: The labor department, Mr, Benson, There's an interesting
guestion raised, again by one of my staff. His original remark,

"What was the relationship between the labor department and USDA on
protection from migrant labor, on president's committee on migratory
labor, on unisnization, minimum wages for farm laborers?" BAnd then he
went on to say, "Is it fair to say that USDA saw the farm owners as
their clients and that farm labor was not an important client?”

What would your reaction to that guestion bke?

BENSON: Well I don't know. That's a rather complex problem. We

recognized that this problem is pretty much an srea problem.

BURG: That iz, the Scuthwesi=-

BENSOM: Texas, the Southwest, and California. Most of the agri-

cultural area of the country didn't worry about it too much--

BURE: Migrant labor that is,
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BENSON: So we didn't feel we showld get into *t too much on a
national basis. Now we did aim to keep acguainted, Keep abreast

of the situation. We tried to represent the wviewpeint of the
farmers, and alse the farm laberers too, but principally the farmers,
the preoducers., We knew what their point of view was. They wanted to
get production, and they had to have labor. &nd the American laborer,
many of them, were resisting any stoop labor, picking tomatoes for
example. And we had evidence to show that it was just hard to get
labor, American lapor. They could make more meney elsewhere, and
they didn't like the type of work, B&And that's one of the things that
caused some of these ipndustries to move into mechanizatien. We never
thowght of such thing as a tomato picker. We thought that would be
one of the hardest crops vou could possibly imagine to mechanize.

But California farmers had hundreds of acres of tomatoes and when
thev're ripe, they have to be picked, And they just had trouble
getting this stoop labor, and so they had to have these Mexicans in
ts help. Otherwise, they'd guit growing tomatoes or slse they'd

have to mechanize. Well as a matter of fact, they 4id mechanize.

They got a tomato picker, if you can imagine, that worked.
BURG: Gently, I assume.

BENSON: T told them T couldn't believe it, And they finally got
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cherry pickers, too, shaking the trees, shaking the cherries off the
tree, and we're using them right today., We're using them in the
church on the big farm out here in=--I'm chairman of the board of
directors of all of our ranches and farms, commercial operations.
But farmers were driven to it because they couldn't get the kipd of

labor that would get up on the ladder and pick cherries all day.

BURG: In my home state, state of Wwashington, it was the apples,

pedaches, pEarsS—-—

BEMSON: Apples, sures. Same thing.

BURG: T don't know that they mechanized that,

BENSONM: T don't think we use shakers on apples vet.

BURG: I don't bhelieve =s0.

BENSOMN: Ha.

BURG: No, I think they're still done the hand way.

BENSON: But cherries iz such a detailed, hand-picking job, vou know.

BURG: Yes,

BENSON: And it's a slow job. You can pick a tree of apples alot
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faster than you can 3 tree of cherries. BSo these things were
happening and we pointed out the trends--that if the farmers can't

get their labor then what happens is there’ll be less jobs for labor
and more mechanization. So we'd point these things ocut, but we didn't
get into the controversy. We did realize, and we 3o indicated, that
people should not come into this, permitted to come into this country
illegally. If they're going to have a law, we got to enforce ft.

We were not enforcing it. We're not enforeing it today. We're
winking at it. And they were doing it in those days, pretty much.

Now we had a friendly relationship with Mexico, We went down there

when they had that cutbreak of foot and wmowth &Gisease.

EURZ: Yasg, I remember.

BENSONM: We were right there almost overnight and helped them, because
we thought it was in our interest. We didn't want it coming across

the border infecting our cattle. So we moved on these things.

BURS: Now that was s dangerpus situation. You got small thanks for
it, of course, from wuch of the rural Mexican population whe didn't

want that drastic salution.

BENSOM-: That's true all over the world. We're getting no thanks.
Most generous nation under heaven, getting practically no thanks--

anywhere. See what's happening in Laoe ftoday, for ewxample. That
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whole peninsula going communist and think of the millions and

hundreds of millions of dollars we'vee=well, won't get onto that.

BURG: Let me ask vou to, in a way, summarize for me--I'm kKeeping

an eye on opur time.

BEMESON: How much time?

BURG: We have half an hour. We'll finish this side in just a few

minutes,

BENSON: Did I allot two hours?

BURG: Yes you did.

BENSON: Must have got me in a moment of weakness.

BURG: T think your secretary alloted me that time in a moment of

WeEaIENess .,

BENSOM: B&All right.

BURG: Let me ask vou to run around that cabinet table, Mrx. EBenson,

and tell me about these men and women.

BENSCON: Come over here where I can see, I don't have too much to

say about them. They're all good men and I enjoyed every association

T nad.
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rInterruption]

BENSON: 1'll =ay I enioyed my assoctations with every one of them

without exception. You know them all by their faces.

BURG: Yes.

BEHSON: I don't know whether I could even pame them all now. But

yvou can see there was Jjust one man between the President and T,

Charlie fCharles E.,] Wilson.
BURG: Yes.

BENSOM: Now Charlie, T had a great affection for him. WVery out-

spoken. Didn't pretend te know much about agriculture, but always

had an opinion.
BURG: And guite free with it.

BENSON: Very free. Very fres with it. The same was true of Dulles.
Dulles idn't eclaim to know much about it but he'd slwavs try to
measure the impact on our foreign relations, which is perfectly

natural,

EURG: Any move that we made domestically in agriculture, he thought

of it in ferms of now what womld that do--
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RENSON: Yes, Yes., What's the impact going to be on our ralationship

with our friends ahrpad?

BURG: Yes. In India or wherever it might be in agricultuare.

BENSON: Yes., Far example, as I remember it, he waa wvigerous in his
support of ocur shipping, oh, beoatlpoads of grain to India. And I was
s little slow on it because I Teared they wouldn't bhe able toe handle
it when we got there. What we'd find on the first shipment? They
had to ecarry it off the boats on their backs. Didn't have facilitias
far unloading. When they got it unloaded, they didn't have any ware-
house to put it in. And when they finally got a place teo put it,
they didn't have transportation to gs=t it to the interior of the
csuntry. In the meantime, a good part of it was being eaten up by
rats, Well, it's not very good pelicy just to haul grain abroad for
rat food. Sc sometimes proposals that seem feasible as we talked
around the table from the standpoint of the effect on our relationship
ahroad wasn't very practical, even though the need was there and it'd
been nice if we could have shipped it there--and we did do a lot of
shipping under 480 and even before.

Arthur Summerfield, of course, you know. Arthur, he had a sort
af a broad wiew of the whole spectrum. Of course he looked at the

political impact, but at the same time he looked at the economics

af it, too.
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BORG: ©Oh, he did. His major contribution as you saw it was the

breadth of his background?

EENSON: Yes, he saw the whole picture. And of course he'd been

the chairman of the campaign, hadn't he? Eisenhower campaign.

BURG:  Yes.

BENSON: And was the postmaster., He was vervy friendly all the way
through and recognized the problem and recognized what was needed
for the solution and supported the policy. If the President and I
came forward with an item to propose, I can't ever remember Arthur
opposing it. He was usually in harmony with what we were trying to

da. And Dirksen didn't stay with us very long.

BURG: Durlkin.

BENSOM: Durkin, I mean.

BURG: HMartin Durkin.

BENSON: Mot Dirksen. Dirksen was with us all the wav, Senator

rewerett] Dirksen.

BURG : Tasg,

BENEC2H: He really was,
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BURG: Martin Durkin was there for six or aight months, 1 think.

BENSON: That's right. But T enjoved him.

BURG: You found him a sympathetic man?

BENSON: Yes, generally speaking. Generally speaking he was
sympathetic and recognized that it was not his field, but we had a
little talk about this Mexican labor. But always on a friendly

basis, and he got my point of view and I got his to protect the
American worker. He seemed to recognize that we were forcing our
farmers to go inteo greater mechanization which would mean less American

labor. So you see it's not as easy as it may appear on the surface.

BURG: DMd he ssem to feel out of his depth or uncomfortable with

the group?

BEMNSOMN: Yez., Yes, Yes, he seemed to feel a littles bit, sort of a

stranger.

BURG: Did Mr. Wilson, or Mr. Humphrey, ignore him or move to ry to

set him at =ase? Do you recollect their relationships with Dwrkin?

BENSON: 0h, I don't know. I didn't, I wag not close enocugh to note
that one way or the other, He didn't seem guite at home with the

group. And yet he was a fine personality. My association with him
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was pleasant. Who's that? These were not cabinet members. Weeks.

BURG: Wesks, Sinclair Wesks.

BENSON: Now Weeks was a2 solid supporter of the farm policy. And

very outspoken. He's from New England. I felt he had strong support
back home for what we were advocating. And he would sometimes express
the viewpoint of New England. And the viewpoint of New England was of
greater conservatism, people standing on their own feet and less

government subsidies and controls and so en, government regulation.

BURG: They would alse represent the view of smaller farm holdings.

BENSON: Smaller farmers, toa. Yeos.

BURG: Certain amount of dairy, fruit crops.

BEXNISON: That's right.

Bnd this man, what's his name? Oh, his name slipped me.

BORG: I don't know because Mr. Nixon i85 in the center of the group,

BENSON: What's that name? That's Seaton, isn't it?

BURG: Yes, Fred Seaton.

BEMEON: Persons.
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BURG: That's Henry Cabot Lodge and Wilton B. Persons.

BENSON: Oh=-Weesks, ah, Mariocn B.

BURG: Fulspm?

BENSON: Tulsom. This is Fulsom here, Peterson, that's Val Peterson.
So if we were going around this way, so he's over here. Fersons.

Mo this i3 Persons.

BURG: And Lodge.

BENSON: and Lodge and Seaton and Humphrey and MNixon. Let me pick up
and go arpund the other way., [IPercival] Brundage, Gray, James B, --,

Summarfield --

BURG: T =ee Herbert Brownall.

BENSON: Dulles, Wilson, Benson by gosh, they haven't got his

name an hers,

BURS: It would have to be

BEKSON: It's [Herbert] Brownwsll.

BURG: Brownell.

BENSCN: Brownell., That's Brownell there. Brownell was essentially
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political in his point of view. I mean he seemed to be very busy in
the political aspects and I never felt he took the time or had the
time o become well informed regarding agricultural igsues. How I
hope I'm not misjudging him., We were alwavs very friendly, and T
enjoyed him. But he never seemed to worry too much about agriculture
except the political impact of some of the things we were considering.
He was very close to Nixon. And his philosophy and Nixen's philosophy
and Seaton's philosophy seemed to be pretty close, pretty much the

s5ame

BURG: That is lest conecern with the sconomic effects of the changes

of agricultural process in—-—

EENSON: Less cohncern—--that's right, that's right: and the welfare
of the farmer: but more the political impact: What does this mean
politically? What's going to be the political reaction cut in the
field? Is it going to mean greater support for the administration
ar less support? What's the immediate effect going to be on the
congressional election next wyear? Things like that, and not so much

the long-time aspects,

lInterrupntion]

BUEG: You were saying that one of the best political minds that

Eisephower had on staff was Wilton B, Persons.
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BENSON: Yes, I think so.

BURG: Why? What evidence did vou have for--

RENSON: Well, just as we met in staff meetings and Persons often
attended pabinet meetings, and the President invited his comments.
fhe President was wery falr and tried to involve everyone when we
were discussing an important matter. He'd have the top members of
hie staff cften meet with us, and he'd sometimes ask for their views,
even though they weren't official members of the cabinet, because he
wanted to get at the problem—-he wanted to get the best solution
possible, I think the President had uppermost in his mind--"What's
best for america?" and to some people he placed that ahead of what's
best for the Republican party, and some politiefans didn't like that.
They thought that what's best for the Republican party, as Charlie
Wilson said about General Motors, is also best for America. But
Bisenhower didn't always agree with that. He would sometimes oppose
members of the cabinet on wvarious guestions because he thought what
they were proposing was too political and that they were putting toe
mach emphasis on the politics of it and not enough emphasis on the

principle and tha long time effects and benefits to the country.

BURG: Now going back te that group, before we leave it, how about

Oveta Culp Hobby, for example? How did she strike you as a human
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being and cabinet officer?

BENSON: She was a very strong supporter of the President, always.
She did her homework: she usually coms= well prepared if there was
something from her partiecular department. 1 never felt that she

was particularly in place arcund the table, and yet she conducted
herself admirably, I thought, and had a good understanding of her
department. A&nd would enter inte discussion on scme of the other
matters, Now zhe came from Texas; Texas s 3 great agricultural
state so of course:; she'd often express herself on agriculture, I
always felt that T had her suppart pretty well on farm policy matters.
I can't ever remember her opposing any major proposal that we brought
to the cabinet. She didn't enter into & lot of discussion usually,
but when she did I felt there was a econtributien, on my philosephy
and Eisenhower's philosophy in agriculture. I never felt that she

was in opposition to what we were proposing.

BURG: You've categorized her as a strong supporter of the President.

BEMEOM: Yesz,

BURG: Would you categorize yourself, also, as a strong supporter of

the President's philosophies and--
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BENSON: Yes, generally speaking. I think sp. T think Eisenhower
had some men arcund him that counseled with him, soms of them cutsids
the cabinet whom I don't konow, but I knew then that they were
counselling, which ecounseled him on some things that were not parti-

cularly helpful to him.

BURG: Can %ou give me an example or examples of who these people

might be in--

BENSON: Ho I can't. T can't remember names now, but some of them

he played golf withy he was close to them.

BURG: Socme of these would, therefore, be men preminently placed,

let's say, in corporation business.

BEMSON: Yes, and were close bto Eizenheower. OCh, they would preobably

visit with him in the White Heuse, have dinner with him and =0 on.

BEURE;:; Part of the stag group perhaps, too.

BEMSON: Yes, but these were more than the stag group. These stag
groups generally were one-time dinners. That was a very broad--he
would ask cakinet members, or he at leacst asked me to suggest names
to be invited to his stag. He wanted them from all walks of life,

not just cronies of his. Beczuse T made two or three suggestions
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and I found later he had them, he invited them. For example, I put
down the name of the president of the Mormon church, David 0. McHay.
He would often come in to the cabinet meeting on Friday and these

stag meetings were on Thursday, as T remember, Thursday evening, and
he'd come in and he =aid, "Boy, we had another of our stag dinners
last night and we had sg-and-so here." And then he’d go on from
there. But this particular time I was alert of course because T had
put the name of David 2. McKay down. And he said, "We had," he

called him doctor, "Dr. David O. McKay, president of the Mormon church
there." He eaid, "He waeg the 1life of the party." Then he'd say some
little thing akout him then go on, and mavbe twa or three others. But
he nearly always made a report to us. BAnd it was usually enjoyable

what he said, wverv brief.

BURG: Some idea, Mr. Benson, of what perhaps had been discussed?

The general themes discussed in that--

BENSOM: Sometimes he'd say that. I remember one time he brought up
the guestion of smoking. He =maid, "After the dinner we were in the
Blue Room," or whatever room they were in, and he said, "One of the
men asked me, 'Why, General, have you quit smoking?'" He said,
"Well T feel superior to you birds that are subject to this= little

weed." And then he told us how he guit smoking. He said, "I told
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them," and we got it, you see, as he was reporting on the dinner.
He said, "When I went for my checkup at Walter Reed Hospital, they
checked me all over and then they told me that T was in good shape.
They said, 'There's one thing, Mr. President, that would help wvoun
further. It would be better for wvour health i1 f vou threw those
rigarettes away.'" So he said, "I went out and got into the car
and there was half a pack laying on the seat, and T just tossed
them put the window." He said, "I haven't touched one since',

8o he said, "I feel superior to you birds.”

BURG: An exercise in will power and--—

BENSON: Exercise in will power, and yvou haven't got enough will power
to overcome thisg little weed or something, T don't know. But anyway
1t was interesting, and he was wvery considerate of others. I don't
know whether T ever mentioned this in the book, but Ike, if vou had
& toothache, you wouldn't beée surprised tg have a telephone call from
him if he knew it. If you had anything serisusly wrong vou'd
certainly get a call from him. And he called me one day, no reason
fer a gall that T cpuld think of. He said, "Ezra, how long since
vou've had a physical check-up?"

And T said, "COh, T don't kpnow, Probably a couple of years."

He said, "I'm making an appointment at Walter Reed Hospital for
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you," and he says, "I want you to honor it. BAnd I want vou to go
up every vear, as long as you're here to have a complete check-up,

and I'm telling them up there.” So I went up and had my check-up.

BURG: He did that for all of vou on the cabinet, I understand.

BENSON: So far as T know, he did. But he certainly did it for me.
But T probably wouldn't have gone. T was full of vim and vigor and
I didn't £eel the need to have a check-up, but it was a wise thing.
And then another thing that I den't know that T put in the book--
when he was 111, T was gut in Denver when he had that heart attack.
Did I mention that I talked about my faith in prayer? And T said,
"We have what we call a little, sort of a private prayer roll from
the first presidency--that’s three men and the twelve, fifteen men,
the policy making bodyvy of the church. When we meet in the temple
on Thursday, we gather around in the praver circle and we have a
few names of personal acquaintances, people we know, and we pray
for them in our regular prayer as a group.”" and T said, "I'll be
very happy to have your name placed on that roll."

He said, "I'd like that very much. I'd appreciate that." 5o
we had his mame on the praver roll in the Zalt Lake temple during
the time he was critically ill. &nd then whean Mamie was ill, he

suggested 1t to me.
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BURG: ©Oh, he 4id?

BENSOM: Yes. He said, "Would you like to do for Mamie what vou did
for me? Hawve her name on the prayer roll?”

I said, "Yes, you bet. We'd be happy to," And pf courss, you
know that I had something to do with introducing prayer in the cabinet

meetings.

BURG: Right. You spoke of that in the book. I was going to ask you,
too, vour mentiening Mamie, I thought immediately in terms of her morsa
recent illnessz, but I was going to ask you: What were your relation-

ships with the President and Mrs. Eisenhower and your contacts with

them after 1917

BENSON: DPractically none. Eisenhower invited me to one or Two
functions which I eouldn't attend because of commitments. But Mamise
invited me to her birthday party, 75th birthday party, at the
Washington Hilton. And she invited me to sit beside her at the

head table, which I hadn't expected, because practically all the
cabinet, former cabinet members who were alive were there, some af
them my senior. And she invited me to sit at the head table, and T
didn't know this £ill T geot there. She was seated, and, as the
individuzl cabinet membersz came in, they had an annmouncer announce
them. They'd stop for just a minute. They'd announce them and then

assign them their seat, My wife would come in with me, an?d then she'd
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go down in the bady at a special table. Well T appreciated that and

T didn't know, I hardly understoocd why she did £, in a wayv, And vet
my wife was close to Mamie. They're very friendly. Hot that they
gpent a lot of time together. But let me tell you a little thing that

happened. Mrs. Benson had a luncheon for the cabinet wives—-

BURG: T remember,

BEMSON: Yrou read that.

BURG: The daughters helped out.

BENSON: Eo you know all abent that. But Mrs. Eisenhower, before she
went to bed, wrote a note to Flora. and then in the church, we, for
vears, have had a weekly, what we gall & home evening, on Manday
nights usually. It is now, on Monday nights; it used to be on any
night, BEut where the family get together and they usually read the
gcriptures; they discuss family orpoblems as a council; they have
mayhe some activity of some sort, maybe some songs and recitations--
whatever the children could do, yvou know, to build up family uwnity
and family solidarity. Well Eisenhower had heard about this. BSo

he said, "I'd like to withess one of those soretime." And so we
arranged it. We had it down on J. William Mariott's farm down at
Front Royal, Virginia, and President Eisenhower ang his wife, Mamie,

and Mamie's mother and I think his sister—-
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BURG: Mamie'sms sister, Mrs, [(Frances:; Mrs. G. Gordon] Mopre.

BENSON: Yes. And two or three others of the Eisenhower clan were
there that night. We have a picture of it, Mavbe it's in the
classifier. And I had my family there, and we went ahead just as
though the President was not there, with & regnlar, tvpical, Mormon,
family home evening. It's now spread across a good part of the world.
There are states, many states in the nation that have announced
family-home-evening month trying to encourage greater family unity
and solidarity, Canada, several of the provinces up there have done
it. But at that time it was not known outside the church, except
through conversation. But Eisenhower just wanted to see it in
operation; so we had one, We had our six children there; T think we
had them all there. No, T think Reed was= a chaplain in the air force
then, but the others were there. Anyway they took part and just as
though the President wasn't there. And he joined in singing: we sang
a song or two around the piano as we did as a family. He joined in.
And he often commented about cur family because he'd met them all.
Little Beth is now the mother of four children. He'd met them all at
the inauvguration and cother functions. And the girls, of cocurse, were

at different functions at the White House.

BURG: I see that T'm running up on the time that vou've given me; so

at this point I'll thank you very much for this time this morning.

1t's deeply appreciated.
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